July 15, 2002
DECISION AND ORDER OF

THE DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

Hearing Officer Decision

Name of Petitioner: Rondd D. White
Date of Filing: October 27, 2000
Case Number: VBH-0068

This Decison involves a complant filed by Rondd D. White (White or “Complanant”) under
the Depatment of Energy (DOE) Contractor Employee Protection Program, codified at 10
C.F.R. Part 708. Complainant is a former employee of a DOE contractor, Midwest Research
Ingtitute (the contractor or MRI), the management and operating contractor of DOE’'s National
Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL), located in Golden, Colorado. According to White, the
contractor made him the subject of reprisds because he made protected disclosures to DOE and
the contractor in January 1999 and May 2000. In his complaint, White aleges that the
contractor then took negative personnd actions againg him, culminating in his dismissa in
Augugt 2000.  On the basis of the hearing that was conducted and the record before me, | have
concluded that White is not entitled to relief under 10 C.F.R. Part 708.

|. Background
A. The Contractor Employee Protection Program

The Depatment of Energy’s Contractor Employee Protection Program was established to
safeguard “public and employee hedth and safety; ensur[e] compliance with gpplicable laws,
rules, and regulations, and prevent[] fraud, mismanagement, waste and abuse’ at DOE's
Government-owned or -leased fadlities 57 Fed. Reg. 7533 (March 3, 1992). Its primary
purpose is to encourage contractor employees to disclose information which they beieve
exhibits unsafe, illegal, fraudulent, or wadeful practices and to protect those “whistieblowers’
from consequential reprisals by ther employers.  Thus, contractors found to have discriminated
agang an employee for such a disclosure, or paticipating in a related proceeding, will be
directed by the DOE to provide rdlief to the complainant.
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The regulations governing the DOE's Contractor Employee Protection Program are set forth at
10 C.F.R. Pat 708. The regulaions provide, in pertinent part, that a DOE contractor may not
retdiate agangt any employee because that employee has disclosed to a DOE officid or to a
DOE contractor, informetion that the employee reasonably believes to evidence, among other
things, a subdantid violation of a law, rule, or reguldion. See 10 C.F.R. 88 708.5 (a)(1).
Employees of DOE contractors who believe they have been retdiated againgt in violation of the
Part 708 regulaions may file a whistleblower complaint with the DOE. In response to such a
complaint, the employee is entitted to an invedigation by an invesigator gppointed by the
Director of the Office of Hearings and Appeds (OHA). 10 C.F.R. 88 708.21-.23. After the
investigator's report on the complaint is issued, an OHA Hearing Officer will generaly conduct
an independent fact-finding and evidentiary hearing. 10 C.F.R. 88 708.24-25. The Hearing
Officer will issue a forma, written opinion on the complaint. 10 CFR. § 70831. Findly, a
party may request review of the Hearing Officer’s Initid Agency Decison by the OHA Director.
10 C.F.R. § 708.32.

B. The Present Proceeding
1. Procedural History

On October 27, 2000, White filed a complaint with the Office of Hearings and Appedls,
requesting an investigaion and hearing. The OHA Director gppointed an investigator and on
May 21, 2001, the investigator issued a report setting forth the results of her invetigation of the
complaint. See Report of Investigation, VBI-0068 (May 21, 2001). The investigator found thet
White made a protected disclosure, and that proximity in time between the disclosure and the
initiation of the aleged negative personnel action raised a Part 708 inference that the protected
disclosure was a contributing factor to the dleged retdiation. However, according to the
invedigation, the contractor also demonstrated a reasonable basis for dismising the complainant
and demonsrated that it followed its norma procedures for terminaing an employee.
Nonethdess, the invedigator was undble to conclude that the contractor met its burden of
proving by clear and convindng evidence that it would have dismissed White despite his
protected disclosures.

On May 21, 2001, | was appointed hearing officer in this case. The parties participated in
discovery, and the hearing was held from February 25 through February 28, 2002 in Denver,
Colorado. | received the transcript of the hearing on March 21, 2002, thereby closing the record
in this case. Sixteen witnesses tedtified a the hearing, one via videotgped depostion. The
individud presented 80 exhibits and the contractor presented 225 exhibits. The official
transcript of that hearing shall be cited as “Tr.” and pertinent documents, received into evidence
as hearing exhibits, cited as“Ex.”

2. Factual Overview

Rondd Dee White received a bacheor’'s degree from Texas Chrigtian University (TCU) in 1969
and a Masters Degree from TCU in 1970. Tr. a 46. From 1976 to 1980, he was an energy
economist at the Federal Energy Administration (predecessor of DOE), and then spent one year
as an energy economist a the US Agency for Internationd Development (US AID). Exhibit K;
Tr. a 46-47. White then became Assgant Commissoner of Agriculture for Regulatory



Programs in Texas from 1982 to 1984. After leaving that postion, he formed a consulting group
specidizing in rurd energy in developing countries. In December 1990 he joined the Solar
Energy Research Inditute (SERI), predecessor to NREL, as an internaiond market andyd, a
position he held until his termination in August 2000. Tr. & 47.

a Early NREL Career (1990-1997)

White was first employed by SERI in 1990 as an international market anayst, tasked to perform
basic economic analysis of the market conditions for renewable energy technologies. Tr. at 50.
White's performance gpprasds were satisfactory through 1992 and did not note any significant
problems. Ex. A-C. However, in late 1992, White delivered a draft report four months late and
then repeatedly missed commitments to ddiver the find report (the APEC Compendium). Ex. 3.
White promised a find draft by January 1993 so that the APEC Compendium could be issued in
February; however he had not submitted his input as of February 3, 1993. Id. NREL daffers
and DOE employees in Washington, DC then requested that White be removed from his position
as editor of the APEC Compendium. EX. C, Tr. at 244-246. In 1993, White began to report to
Walter Short, a branch manager. White's appraisal for cdendar year 1993, signed by Short,
stated that White needed “immediae improvement” in completing projects and that White
needed to improve reationships with the NREL Washington, DC office because those
relationships had “gradudly deteriorated.” Ex. C. Notwithstanding this appraisa, White
received a satisfactory reting and araise. In May 1994, White asked for a promotion but Short
refused, ingtead advisng White that he should “sart ddivering a solid performance a [White' g
current grade level.” Ex. 6. In June 1994, White and Short agreed to have more forma and
frequent performance reviews. Ex. 9. In August 1994, White missed a deadline to review
country profiles. Ex. 10-12. Nonetheless, White's cdendar year 1994 appraisa stated that
White had a successful year. Ex. D. In that appraisal, White agreed to a developmental
objective to produce a “sgnificant, quaity NREL technicd report” in 1995. Id.

During 1995, White and a few other employees created NREL’s internaiona program in order
to dlow NREL to maximize international opportunities. In July 1995, White was detailed to the
World Bank (Bank), i.e. NREL continued to pay his salary while he worked at the Bank. Tr. at
51. Short tedtified that he believed the assgnment to be a good fit for White because it involved
ills like imparting knowledge of renewable energy to World Bank officids, something White
was very good at, but did not require a written product. Tr. at 1167. White continued to report
to Short offiddly, but reported on an informa basis to a senior colleague in Washington, Sam
Bddwin. Tr. a 51. White traveled with World Bank teams to develop renewable energy
projects for World Bank funding. Tr. a 52. At the Bank, White was nominated for a dtaff
“Excellence Award” for hiswork on photovoltaic energy. Tr. at 377, 665, 842.

On January 8, 1996, Bob Westhy, a contractor manager, sent Short an email recognizing White's
invaueble assstance a the Bank and explaning how White's activities hdped NREL and its
subcontractors. Ex. P. In February 1996, Bob Westby became White's manager as the result of
a reorganization at MRI. However, Westby soon found White to be unresponsive to his requests
for information about White's assgnment. Westby testified that in 1996 he repeatedly requested



that White submit performance objectives, but never recaeived them. Tr. a 531. White testified
that he submitted the performance objectives through a senior colleegue, Sam Badwin. Tr. at
376. Nether Westby or Short ever received a mgor report from White regarding his Bank
detail. * Tr. at 400, 1172.

b. NREL Career After World Bank Assignment (1997-1999)

In Augugt 1997, the World Bank assignment concluded and White returned to NREL where he
was placed on overhead until a funded project could be located for him. Tr. at 257. He began
reporting to Barbara Goodman, MRI Director, in October 1997, and his team leader at that time
was Roger Taylor. Tr. a 659, 1200. Taylor was White's first level supervisor and managed
White's daily activities. White began to work on some proposas for energy projects in the
Philippines. Tr. at 53.

In September 1998, US AID authorized a project, developed by White and his colleagues, to be
funded at $1.4 million from December 1998 to December 2000. Ex. 29, Tr. a 56. The project,
Philippines Renewable Energy Project (PREP), was designed for US AID in Manila to assist the
country’s rura eectrification program. Tr. a 56, Ex. 29. This occurred at the same time that
White again began to report to Bob Westby, Center Director, who had respongbility for the
internationd program then and was his manager throughout the remainder of his tenure at
NREL. Tr. a 55. PREP conssted of approximately 10 tasks, and White was responsible for the
market assessment task.  White tedtified that PREP was NREL’s firg attempt to develop a
comprehensve program for a country for rura dectrification. Tr. a& 57. Roger Taylor was the
PREP project manager and very well versed in White's work. Tr. at 60. Westby, on the other
hand, tedtified that he did not understand White's work and Taylor testified that Westby was not
very interested in PREP. Tr. a 402.

While working on the PREP project, White made the first of his alleged disclosures. In
December, 1998, White received an email that he believed described the misuse of funds on the
Technology Cooperation Agreement Pilot Program (TCAPP) and PREP projects. Ex. V. White
suspected that staff members were usng money from TCAPP to begin PREP activities before
the PREP funding was allocated.? On January 6, 1999, White cdled the DOE Office of Inspector
Generd (1G) hotline and complained of the possble misuse of funds. Tr. a 68-69.

On January 13, 1999, Barbara Goodman hdd an offste megting regarding the performance of
the employees in her group. The managers that reported to her, including Walter Short, Roger
Taylor and Bob Westby, attended this meeting. Tr. a 1200. During the meeting, Goodman
asked each manager to describe the srengths and weaknesses of ther subordinates, and then all

! White testified that he published a professiona paper while a the Bank. Tr. at 370.

2 TCAPP was initigted in August 1997 as a mechanism to implement Artide 4.5 of the
Framework Convention on Climate Change. DOE, AID, and the Environmental Protection
Agency support TCAPP. TCAPP focuses atention and effort on achieving technology transfer
from the US to developing countries. Tr. a 67, Ex. 31. NREL implements TCAPP for DOE.



of the managers present ranked that employee according to the work that the employee actualy
produced, without regard for the employee's current job title Tr. at 1203, Ex. 35. If the
managers ranked an employee in a lower podgtion than that employee's current job, that
employee was identified by the group as possibly needing a performance plan. Tr. at 1205. As
described below, the managers identified White as having performance problems. At the
mesting, White was rated a “3” (fully satisfactory) as a Senior Project Leader Program Manager
1, however, his actua job title was Senior Internationd Market Andyst, a higher-level postion.
Tr. & 1218, Ex. X. The managers commented that White needed to focus on tangible results and
“send the messsge without sending the irritation,” a reference to his sometimes rocky
reaionships with colleegues. Ex. 35, Tr. a 1204. The minutes of the meeting identified White
as possbly needing a performance plan. Ex. 35. Taylor reviewed White's 1998 gppraisa with
White in early 1999, and advised White to “focus on tangible results due to perceived
deficienciesin submitting ddiverables” Ex. X, Tr. a 732.

White turned in a PREP work plan on February 1, 1999, earlier than the other PREP gaff. Tr. at
495. White's task was Task One, and it was gpproved in March 1999 on his firgt trip to Manila,
in the amount of $250,000, the highest level of funding for dl of the PREP tasks.

On March 2, 1999, the IG informed DOE's Golden FHed Office of the complant about the
posshle misuse of funds in the PREP and TCAPP programs and asked Golden to take
appropriate action. Tr. at 343, Ex. 37. On March 12, 1999, Westby convened a meeting of the
PREP and TCAPP g4 in order to discuss project funding. Ex. 39. Taylor suspected that White
made the complaint, and tedtified that a some point he told Westby of his suspicions. Tr. at 693.
On March 15, 1999, Westby met with Chris Leavitt, Acting Director of Human Resources, and
discussed White' s performance problems. Tr. at 969-971, Ex. Z.

c. Initiation of the Informal Corrective Action Plan (CAP) (April 1999-May 2000)

On April 27, 1999, White met with Westby and Taylor at Westhy's request. Ex. 44. Westhy
asked White to meet with hm every other week for four months and present a one-page
summary of specific performance objectives with ddiverables and timelines. This document
would become part of White€s peformance sdf-assessment. Westby considered this an
“informa corrective action plan,” but never specificdly labeed the meetings as such in any
conversation or correspondence with White or Taylor. * Tr. & 699. Taylor tedtified that he
thought the meetings were edtablished to enable a new manager (Westby) to learn about the
work of a subordinate. Tr. at 699. Taylor dso sad that Westby never directly announced in the
medtings that White's performance was an issue. Tr. at 724. Three of White's ddiverables and
hiswork plan were submitted ahead of schedulein 1999. Tr. a 12.

* The informd CAP is the negdive personne action described in White's whistleblower
complaint.



White peformed wdl in the PREP project in 1999. During 1999, White traveled to the
Philippines for PREP three to four times for approximately three to four weeks at a time. Tr. at
674. White often helped out when customers visted NREL in Colorado by arranging ad hoc
tours and medtings at DOE's request. Tr. a 676, Ex. KKK. During al of the time that White
worked on PREP, his customer (the government of the Philippines) never complained about his
work. Tr. a 456. In fact, the customer provided favorable feedback on White's work on PREP.
Ex. 88. There is no evidence that White missed any mgor deiverables from December 1998
through most of 1999. In fact, on December 1, 1999, Westby was prepared to reduce the
frequency of the regular meetings from bi-monthly to monthly. Ex. NN.

However, problems with timeliness arose later that month. On December 21, 1999, Kdli
Anderson asked White and severa of his colleagues to provide input to her in early January for
her use in compiling an AID Quarterly Report. Ex. 58. Anderson was the adminidrative
assstant to Ron Benioff, the manager responsible for coordinating the report, a quarterly report
of progress on AID projects. Deposition of Ron Benioff at 57, Tr. a 456. Each employee was
to submit a paragraph or two summaizing ther progress on AID projects for the past quarter.
Id. a 60. NREL was delinquent in producing these required reports for AID, and had been
requested to begin submitting the reports on a regular basis. Depostion of Ron Benioff at 58.
White did not submit hisinput in January.

White also began to demonsrate defiance of his manager’'s requests. On February 3, 2000,
Westby asked White to provide a progress report on dl of his scheduled deliverables by the end
of the falowing day. Ex. 61. On February 4, White sent Westby and Human Resources an e
mail sating that his computer had crashed and that he had no access to his files. That evening,
the computer was repaired and White promised to work on the report the following day, a
Saturday, prior to a trip to the Philippines. Ex. 62. White failed to submit the report prior to
leaving for, and even dfter his arivd in Manila Westby had not received the document by
February 14, and sent White afax in the Philippines asking for its submisson. Ex. 63.

White continued to exhibit the procragtination that marked his early NREL career. Anderson
asked White again for his input to the AID Quarterly Report on February 14", On February 17,
Westby asked White to send his material to Anderson. Ex. 63. On February 20", White told
Westhy that Ron Benioff had not contacted White about the report, even though White knew that
Anderson reported to Benioff. Id. On March 17, 2000, White sent an email to Anderson asking
her for a schedule of 2000 due dates for input to the Quarterly Report and a description of the
format for that input. Ex. 85. On April 19, 2000, Anderson repeated her request for White's
input for the Report by May 5, 2002. White asked Anderson again on April 24 for a schedule
and she responded the same day. Id.

In White's performance appraisal for calendar year 1999, Westby noted that White failed to meet
two ddiverable deadlines in December 1999 and that White needed improvement in working
rdationships. Ex. XXX. Westby rated White as a “2” (needs improvement). White then wrote
to Westby’'s manager and complained that Westby was retdiaing against him.  White dso
requested that NREL retain amediator to investigate and mediate the dispute. Ex. TT.



d. Progression to a Formal Corrective Action Plan and Termination (May-August 2000)

Not only did White miss the May 5 deadline for the Quarterly Report input, he aso did not
respond to Anderson’s request until after May 15. By way of explanaion, White wrote in an
emal to Westby that he had requested a schedule of report input dates from Anderson in March
2000 in order to plan his work, but never received such a schedule. Ex. 85.  White stated that
this “was a problem waiting to happen.” Id.

Chris Leavitt, then Acting Director of Human Resources, began dtting in on the meetings with
Westby in May 2000 after Roger Taylor, White's team leader, declined to attend further, and she
tedtified that White often chalenged Westby's directions to White. Tr. at 975-977, 1006, 1046.
Taylor had attended the meetings from April 1999 to May 2000. Tr. a 696. However, Taylor
tedtified that the medtings became unproductive and he stopped attending in May 2000 when it
became clear to him that the megtings were not being used to communicate the substance of
White's work but rather seemed punitive in nature. Tr. at 701, 743. Taylor informed Westby
that he no longer desired to be a team leader if that postion required Taylor to participate in
mesetings that Taylor viewed as unproductive and subjected White to a higher level of scrutiny
than other employess. Ex. BBB. The meetings became increasingly tense and White advised
Human Resources that he disapproved of Westby's management syle and that Westby was
trying to inimidate White. Ex. 75. Westby aso expressed displeasure with White in the
meetings, a one point leaving amesting abruptly. Ex. LLL.

On May 17, 2000, Wesby's manager, Jon PReruszkiewicz, denied Whit€'s request for
mediation, dating that it was not NREL’s policy to provide outsde mediation for disputes that
could be resolved “with exiging resources, policies and procedures” Ex. 92. He informed
White that he would be placed under a forma corrective action plan, which White received on
May 22. Ex. AAA. At the end of 60 days NREL management planned to assess his
performance and determine what further action would be required. Ex. AAA. Judy Marshadl,
new Director of Human Resources, refused to meet with White to discuss his formd corrective
action plan or dlegations of retdiation. Tr. a 1138.

White again procrastinated in medting deadlines for submitting a written report.  On May 22, he
committed to submit the AID Quarterly Report information to Anderson on May 23 by close of
business. However, by May 24", Anderson had not received the requested input from White,
Ex. 97.

White made dlegations of retdiation during a meeting with the Golden Fdd Office on June 1,
2000. Ex. 109. Wesby sent White a Written Reprimand for missing a meeting that was
scheduled for that day. Ex. DDD. During a subsequent performance meeting, White committed
to producing a ddiverable for Westby on Wednesday, July 5, 2000. Ex. 114. He did not meet
tha deadline. Ingead, in a July 5" emal, White explained to Westby that White missed the
deadline because White's persona computer faled on Thursday, June 29. Id. White stated that
after vidting Westby’s office on June 29 and finding that Westby was absent, White did not



know how to get in touch with Westby. Ex. 114. White sent the deliverable to Westby on July
10. Id.

On Augus 8, 2000, White was terminated. Ex. 64 . He filed a complaint with OHA on October
27, 2000, and requested an invedtigation followed by a hearing. Ex. MMM. OHA investigated
the case and issued a report on May 21, 2001. The report of investigation (ROI) concluded that
White made a protected disclosure, that the protected disclosure was a contributing factor to his
dismissal, and that the contractor had a reasonable basis for dismissing White. Ex. NNN. The
invedtigator was not, however, able to find clear and convincing evidence tha NREL would have
dismissed White in spite of his protected disclosures. 1d.

Il. Legal Standards Governing This Case
A. The Complainant’s Burden
The regulations describe the burdens of proof in awhistleblower proceeding as follows:

The complainant shdl have the burden of edablishing by a preponderance of the
evidence that there was a disclosure, participetion, or refusa described under §
708.5, and that such act was a contributing factor in a personnel action taken or
intended to be taken againgt the complainant. Once the complainant has met this
burden, the burden shdl hift to the contractor to prove by clear and convincng
evidence that it would have taken the same personnd action absent the
complainant’s disclosure, participation, or refusal.

10 C.F.R. § 708.9 (d); see Ronald Sorri, 23 DOE 1 87,503 (1993) (Sorri). “Preponderance of the
evidence’ is proof suffident to persuade the finder of fact that a propostion is more likely true
than not true when weghed agang the evidence opposed to it. See Hopkins v. Price
Waterhouse, 737 F.Supp. 1202, 1206 (D.D.C. 1990) Hopkins); 2 McCormick on Evidence §
339 at 439 (4th ed. 1992). As a result, White has the burden of proving by evidence sufficient to
“tlt the scdes’ in his favor that he disclosed information which he believed evidenced a
subgtantia violation of a law, rule, or regulation. 10 C.F.R. § 708.5(a)(1). If the complainant
does not meet this threshold burden, he has faled to make a prima facie case and his clam must
therefore be denied. If the complainant meets his burden, he mugt then prove that the disclosure
was a contributing factor in the personnd actions taken againg him, in this case the imposition
of an informd corrective action plan that culminated in his termination in August 2000. 10
C.F.R. 8§ 708.29; see Marano v. Dep't of Justice, 2 F.3d 1137 (Fed. Cir. 1993) (applying
“contributing factor” test). Temporad proximity is sufficient to edtablish the find required
dement in a prima fadie case of retaliation. See Sorri, 23 DOE 87,503 (1993); County v.
Dole, 886 F.2d 147, 148 (8th Cir. 1989). Seealso ROI at 3-4.

B. The Contractor’s Burden

If White mekes a prima facie case, the regulations require NREL to prove by “clear and
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convindng” evidence that the company would have terminated White even if he had not made
protected disclosures. “Clear and convincing” evidence requires a degree of persuason higher
than mere preponderance of the evidence, but less than “beyond a reasonable doubt.” See
Hopkins, 737 F.Supp. @& 1204 n. 3. In evauating whether NREL has met its burden, | will
consgder: (1) the drength of the contractor's evidence in support of its decison to terminate
White; and (2) any evidence that the contractor takes similar actions against employees who are
not whisleblowers but who are otherwise dmilaly Stusted. See Carr v. Social Security
Administration, 185 F.3d 1318, 1323 (Fed. Cir. 1999) (quoting Geyer v. Dep’t of Justice, 70
M.S.P.R. 682, 688 (1996), aff'd, 116 F.3d 1497 (Fed. Cir. 1997)) (Carr).

[1l. Analysis

| have carefully reviewed the record in this proceeding, induding the testimony of the witnesses
at the hearing and the exhibits submitted into evidence by both parties. For the reasons set forth
below, | find that dthough White made a disclosure that is protected under 10 C.F.R.
§ 708.5(a)(1), and that disclosure was a contributing factor in an adverse personnd action taken
againg him, MRI has proven by clear and convincing evidence that it would have taken the same
action absent the complainant’s disclosure.

A. The Alleged Protected Disclosures

In his complaint, White dleges that he made four protected disclosures to DOE. The first
disclosure was White's telephone cal to the 1G Hatline on January 6, 1999, reporting possible
misuse of funds in the PREP and TCAPP projects. The three additiona disclosures are: (2) a
complaint to NREL that an NREL employee had intentionaly undermined Complanant’s efforts
to obtain funding from the United Nations Development Program for a project in the Philippines,
(3) a May 3, 1999 complaint to NREL that a colleague tried to subvert White's efforts to hire a
summe intern; and (4) a March 22, 2000, response to a performance appraisa that White
aleged was a form of retdiation againg him for making the May 1999 disclosures. Ex. 88, Ex.
EE. Counsd for NREL did not dispute the fact that Disclosure 1 (the IG complaint) is protected
under Part 708. Prehearing Statement of NREL at 2 (February 20, 2002). To make a prima facie
case of retdiation, White need only show one disclosure that was protected under Part 708. See
Janet L. Westbrook, 28 DOE { 87,018 (2001). | therefore find that White has met his threshold
showing under Part 708 that he engaged in an activity protected under Part 708. *

B. White' s Disclosures Wer e a Contributing Factor in His Termination

A finding of “tempora proximity,” i.e., a finding that “the officdd teking the action has actual or
condructive knowledge of the disclosure and acted within such a period of time that a reasonable
person could conclude that the disclosure was a factor in the personnel action,” is sufficient to
show tha a protected disclosure was a contributing factor in a personnd action. See Ronald A.
Sorri, 23 DOE 9 87,503 (1993) citing McDaid v. Department of Hous. and Urban Dev., 90

*NREL argued that the other three aleged disclosures are not protected activities under Part 708
and | agree. Thereisno evidence that they alege or demongtrate what White believed to be a
substantial violation of alaw, rule or regulation. 10 C.F.R. Section 708.5(8)(1).
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FMSR 1 5551 (1990); see also County v. Dole, 886 F.2d 147, 148 (8th Cir. 1989).

White made the complant to the DOE IG on January 6, 1999. The IG sent NREL a letter
advisng NREL of the complaint on March 2, 1999. NREL asked Westby to investigate, since
he was the manager in charge of TCAPP and PREP. Tr. at 419. On March 10, 1999, Westby
informed his gaff that he would hold a meting about the complaint on March 12, 1999. Taylor
tedtified that he sent White an emal from his personal emal account dating that management
was very upset about the |G complaint. Tr. at 695

Westhy, the manager responsible for putting White on the informal corrective action plan, denies
actua or condructive knowledge of the disclosure to the IG prior to placing White on the
informd corrective action plan on April 27, 1999. In fact, Westby stated during his deposition
tha he discovered White was the source of the complant only after White's terminaion in
August 2000. Tr. at 438. However, there is evidence in the record to dispute this statement and
Westby's testimony that he was unaware of any IG involvement. Tr. a 445. Weshy's
testimony on when he learned that White was the source of disclosures conflicts with the
tedimony of other witnesses. At the hearing Westby was not clear about the time when he
actudly found out that White was respongble for the complaint. Tr. at 438-445. There was also
evidence in the record that other employees had discussed White as the possble source of the
complant. Taylor quickly suspected that White was the source of the IG complaint, and testified
that he informed Westby of his suspicion “a some point.” Tr. a 694. White's former manager
Wadter Short tedtified that he learned of the complaint around 1999 from Westby, prior to the
time that Westby claims he learned that White was the source of the disclosure. Tr. at 1175
1177, 1196. Westby’s manager testified at his deposition that he told Westby that White was the
source in May 2000, wdl before White was terminated. Deposition of Jon Pietruszkiewicz at
17-19, 66-68. Findly, Judy Marshdl, MRI Director of Human Resources, tedtified that she
discussed the complant and dlegations of retdiation with Westby prior to White€'s termination.
Tr. at 1130.

| find temporal proximity between White's disclosure in January 1999 about the dleged misuse
of funds in the TCAPP and PREP projects and the initiation of the informa CAP in April 1999.
The disclosures occurred within six months of the date when Westby began the informa CAP.
See, e.g., Frank E. Ishill, 27 DOE § 87,513 (1999) (sx months between disclosure and dleged
retaliatory action); Barbara Nabb, 27 DOE { 87,519 (1999) (eight months); Russell Marler, 27
DOE { 87,506 (1998) (three months to four years). This tempord proximity gives rise to a Part
708 inference that the January 1999 disclosure was a contributing factor in the negative
personnel action that NREL took againg White in April 1999, i.e, placing him on an informal
corrective action plan.

Based on the above, | find that White has established a prima facie case that his protected
disclosure was a contributing factor to the aleged retdiatory action. The burden now shifts to
NREL to prove by clear and convincing evidence that it would have terminated White despite
his protected disclosures.



-11-

C. Evidence That NREL Would Have Taken The Same Action Against White
Absent His Protected Disclosure

NREL argues that it would have terminated White despite his disclosures to DOE employees
based on: (1) his history of performance problems, and (2) his poor working relationships with
co-workers. After reviewing the record, | find that the contractor has shown by clear and
convindng evidence that it would have terminated White notwithstanding his protected
disclosures.

(1) Evidencein Support of Complainant’s Termination

NREL argues that White was terminated because of (1) a history of performance problems and
(2) poor working relationships with colleagues. | agree with the DOE investigator that NREL
has presented credible evidence to support its argument that White was terminated because of a
higory of performance problems. Ex. NNN (ROI) a 4. However, NREL’s argument that the
termination was judified by White's poor working relationships is not persuasive, and is
countered by credible evidence that White was generdly wel regarded by his peers and by some
managers. Because the first argument is substantiated, as explained below, | need not reach the
grguments NREL puts forth regarding White's relationships with his co-workers.

a. Timdiness and Production of Deliverables

Based on a review of the record and my observations during four days of testimony, it is clear
that White was an experienced, capable economist with a creative approach to his work and a
flar for working with his counterparts in developing countries.  White ably promoted his
projects and NREL’s misson in the developing world. White's PREP customer, the government
of the Philippines, never complained about his work, and he was able to broker some important
projects in the Philippines while working for NREL. Even Westby acknowledged the crestivity
of White's work and his value to NREL. Tr. a 539. However, it is aso clear that as much as
White loved certain aspects of his job (i.e.,, making dedls, creating projects, visting counterparts
in foreign countries, meeting people), White didiked and avoided other aspects, especidly
writing about his job and producing the deliverables requested by his manager. In December
1998 he found himsdf reporting to a manager who, based on past experience as White€'s
supervisor, demanded that White produce tangible results of his work in the fild on a regular
basis.

White's problem with timeliness fird became evident in the record in late 1992 when he missed
an important due date that was reported to his then manager, Walter Short. White ddivered a
draft late, and repeatedly missed a deadline on the paper that was to be presented a& a
conference. This was reflected in a comment on the complainant's 1993 performance appraisa

s | note that the Notice of Termination never determined that White falled to comply with
Requirement 6, the requirement to follow NREL's policies and procedures in resolving
workplace concerns. Ex. 1.
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that he needed “immediaie improvement” in his ddiverables. Short tedtified that White never
finished a mgor written project for a dient during the time that White worked for Short, from
late 1992 through 1995. Tr. at 1162. In a staffing andyss, White's second level manager Tom
Bath wrote that from 1992 to 1994, White was not assigned to “any projects with long-term
milestones because of a history of inability to dedl with project planning and the completion of
deiverables” Ex. 27. Bath continued that White had not completed any mgjor reports or
publications from 1990 to 1994. Id. Short tedified that he identified these performance
problems and tried to work them out informally with White and Bath. Tr. a 1179. Short dso
tedtified that White made an effort to improve, and Short gave White a performance objective in
1995 to complete a mgjor technica paper. Ex. D. However, White was assigned to the World
Bank in August 1995. Short tedtified that White did not resolve the performance problem--the
World Bank assgnment did not require the ddivery of a tangible product. Tr. at 1180-1183.
White never produced a mgor project paper, thus not meeting his 1995 performance objectives.
Ex. D.

While ill a the Bank, White began to report to Westby in February 1996. Westby testified that
he asked White repestedly for updated performance objectives and White never ddivered them,
thus putting Westby on aert for potential performance problems. © There is evidence in the
record, however, tha White did send performance objectives to Westhy. ©  First, there is a brief
memo from White describing his performance gods that was sent to Sam Badwin (White's
informa supervisor while working at the Bank) in 1997 for his review, and Badwin tedtified
that the memo was probably sent to Westby dso. Ex. Q, R. Second, the record contains a memo
in June 1996 entitled “Brief Overview of Past Activities and Proposed Plan for 1997 | dso
note that in the memo White states “Bob [Westby] has asked for my performance goals again,”
and notes that he (White) is at fault for not engaging his management in discussions about his
performance gods. 1d. Thus, White acknowledges that Westby asked for the information more
than once, and that White should have actively pursued the topic with Westby.

After White returned from the World Bank assgnment in August 1997, his reviews were
satifactory.  His 1998 gppraisd noted, however, that he “needs to focus on tangible results
(reports, workshops, subcontracts).” Ex. X. Problems with timeliness were noted in the
manager’s meeting on January 13, 1999, but these problems do not appear in the record again
until later in 1999. In fact, in February 1999, White was the first of his colleagues to submit his
PREP Work Plan. Further, Westhy himsdf tedtified that White had not missed any ddiverable
deadlines from the time Westby began supervisng White in December 1998, to March 15, 1999,
the date of Westby’s meeting with Chris Leavitt, Acting Director of Human Resources, to

*Westby admitted that he did not properly manage White during his World Bank assignment
because he did not correct this problem when he encountered it in 1996. Tr. at 53. Instead of
confronting White and atempting to resolve this problem informdly, Westby took a formal,
inflexible approach and used Whit€'s unresponsiveness in 1996 (along with the consensus at the
1999 manager’s meding that White may have needed a performance plan) as the bass for the
informa CAP--without White even knowing that his performance was & issue.

’ Performance objectives are professiona goals for the next performance appraisal period.
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discuss White's performance problems.  Tr. at 434-437.  Westby admitted during the hearing
that he placed White on an informd corrective action plan based soldy on Whit€'s history of
performance problems, not based on anything Westby had observed since becoming White's
manager again in December 1998. Tr. at 435.

Despite regular performance medings with Westby, White missed key deadlines for deliverables
in 2000. In early February, White missed a deadline for submitting a progress report to Westhy,
explaining that his computer had crashed on the due date of the report. White did not reply to
repeated requests from Anderson in early 2000 to submit input for the AID Report, even after
Westby intervened. See Section |.B.2.c., supra. In fact, on February 20" White wrote Westby
that he was surprised to hear from Westby because Ron Benioff (Anderson’s manager) had never
contacted White about the report. White wrote “If | knew what was wanted and what the
reporting schedule is, thiswould not happen.” Ex. 58.

Notwithstanding the previous datement, White was late agan with input for the next AID
Quarterly report. Ex. 85. On April 19, 2000, Anderson asked White and his colleagues for input
by the close of business on May 5, 2000. Ex. 85. Despite several reminders, White had not
submitted his input by May 24. Id. Whit€'s actions demondirate his cavdier atitude toward a
reasonable workplace request. Even after Anderson gave White the information he had asked
for, he thumbed his nose a her request by refusing to respond to her until ten days after the
deadline, and then faled to send the data by May 23 as he had promised. Ex. 85. NREL could
not reman a vidble entity if dl of its employees adopted White's contempt for deadlines. His
uncooperative behavior judified Westby’s next step in the progressve discipling, which was to
place White on aforma CAP on May 22, 2000. That document stated, in pertinent part:

You are to inform me, prior to its deadline, when you will need to miss a
deiverable.  In addition, you ae to incdude with such communication an
acceptable judification and a date certain for the completion of the deiverable.
This recognizes that the nature of your work may reasonably require
adjustmentsin deliverables and deadlines.

Ex. AAA. Rahe than atempt to comply with this condition, which does not appear
unreasonable, White chdlenged its language and used this as an excuse for missng deadlines
during the 60-day period that the CAP was in force. Even though this passage is unambiguous,
he tedified a the hearing that the words “acceptable judtification,” and “date certan” are
“vagug’ and “likdy to cause problems in complying with [the CAF], in terms of deding with
Bob Westby over ddiverables....” Tr. a 208. This displays an uncooperative nature and
supports NREL s contention that White did not accept Westby’ s direction.

Even in the face of formd natification that his performance was deficient, White ignored the
requirements of the forma CAP. He continued to ignore deadlines and set forth weak excuses
for not doing his job. For example, on May 24th, Ron Benioff left a voice mal message for
Westhy dating that he and Anderson continued to have difficulty in getting the AID data from
White, and that requests for input turned into “heated didog.” In response to Westby’s inquiry
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about the delays, White replied that for two months he had been trying to get an answer to his
request for a schedule and format. He characterized Benioff’s phone call as*“rude’ and Stated:

| have no problem with your asking me to have something to Ron/Kelli by the
time | leave work tonight. | am sorry that you had to do it, however. . . . If Ron
had responded to my March 21 emal in anything like a timdy fashion, he could
have avoided being rude to a colleague, he could have avoided the misuse of
your time on this matter, and he could have had the proper information for his
deliverable to AID on time. But he did not. . . . As you can see | did my dead
level best to avoid this resullt.

Ex. 85.

White's performance continued to deteriorate in 2000 and he became more brazen in ignoring
the CAP requirements. He missed another important deadline the following month — a
deliverable that he promised to Westby on June 30. White tedtified that his hard drive failed on
June 29. On Wednesday, July 5, Westby again asked White to send him the deliverable and to
leave a voice mal on its completion, and said he would follow up with White on his return to the
office on Monday, July 10. However, White showed his disdain for Westby’s direction when he
replied via emal on July 5 that “any fair person who was here in the last few days would have
concluded that |1 was focused on the task and doing dl that was humanly possible to meet the
ddivery deadline” Id. He emailed Westby on July 10 that he would submit the document that
day. Ex. FFF. At the hearing, White explained his falure to follow Westby's direction as
follows

Q. Why didn’t you leave the voice mail on July 5?

A. Wi, because | knew that he wouldn't be back until Monday, and there wasn't

any point in leaving three or four emails with pieces of messages of pieces of

information. That by Sunday | knew that we'd have a report for him, and tell him the bad
news, but tell him thewhole story. . ..

Tr. a 162. This exchange reveds White€'s attitude toward taking Westby's direction and his
attitude toward the CAP. White smply refused to do what Westby asked him to do. He clearly
did not take the terms of the CAP serioudy because he continued to miss deadlines without
natifying Westby in advance. Rather than follow Westby's indructions and notify Westby
before duly 5 that a date would dip, White waited until the deadline to even communicate with
Westhy. Despite this, White inssted that he was doing everything possible to make his deadline.
That is not credible-he did not attempt to recreate the report from memory or existing
documents, he did not attempt to renegotiate the deadline, and he never left a voicemall rdating
the status of his project.
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The record supports the NREL argument that White was terminated because of performance
problems. White seems to have made minimal effort to meet his manager’s demands after being
placed on a forma CAP in May 2000. Even assuming, arguendo, that White did not know that
he was on an informa CAP in April 1999, he shoud have realized that Westby had a more than
passing interest in the reports that Westby requested at the biweekly meetings. Mogt employees
in White's stuaion would have completed the assgnments in order to comply with the CAP and
avoid any negdive repercussions. Even Taylor, who was very supportive of White, stated that
White could have produced the reports, but did not want to. Ex. NNN (ROI) at 9. Rather, White
argued with Westby during the performance medings about the meaning of Westby’s memos
and whether or not he was required to produce these reports. Tr. at 977-978.

At the hearing, White raiondized his non-peformance by blaming his manager, other
employees, and his persona computer for his late submissons. When White missed AID
deadlines, he blamed Anderson and Benioff for not providing him with a schedule, even though
Anderson had done so in April.  When he did not meet his February 4, 2000 or July 5, 2000 due
dates, he blamed a hard drive falure. | do not doubt that White's hard drive failed on February 4
and June 29. However, an employee on the 35" day of a 60-day forma CAP should have gone
to great lengths to turn in the report on time. See Eugene J. Dreger, 27 DOE 1 87,549 (2000)
(upholding the credibility of a performance plan despite whistleblower’s refusd to comply with
its terms).  Since his computer had crashed in February, by June he should have learned the
importance of having backup data. In addition, White had amost a week to complete the July
report after he found out that his computer had crashed--further evidence of the levd of
procragtination in his work. FAndly, it is ludicrous to aitribute his falure to submit a progress
report to his lack of a schedule or format. He could have asked another colleague who
contributed to the AID Report what format they used, and then submit something smilar.  When
questioned about placing the blame for missng two deadlines on a computer falure, White
tedtified:

A. It's true that | had a Toshiba computer, and that thereé's a class-action suit against
Toshiba for the machines falure. And | did have, in fact, documented failures of that machine.

Q. So do you bdieve that somehow, your ingbility to comply with item 2 of the forma
corrective action plan was caused by the fact that you had a crummy Taoshiba computer?

A. That wasan issuefromtimetotime. It certainly was.

Q. Wadl, the fact that you didn't like your Toshiba computer didn't prevent you from
contacting Mr. Westby by telephone, though, did it?

A. You are correct that | could have contacted him by telephone. My commonsense
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judgment led meto believe | should notify him before he came back.

Tr. & 214. Whit€'s behavior in this incident does not display “commonsense judgment,” and the
record shows that he did not comply with the forma CAP. In an email message, White
complained of Westhy’'s “hodile and prgjudiced reaction to the AID Quarterly report and hard
drive falure” EX. 129. Westby was judtified in having a negative reaction to this parade of
weak excuses and falure to take his direction. Therefore, | find that the evidence supports
NREL’s argument that White did not produce ddiverablesin atimely manner.

b. Conclusion

NREL management identified problems with White's timdiness and production of work as early
as 1993. The record dso contains evidence, set forth above, that White's relationship with his
manager verged on insubordination.  These problems improved for a while, but then worsened in
2000, even after forma notification that his performance was under scruting. Based on this
record, which shows Whit€s repeated falure to meet key deadlines, produce timely
deliverables, and take direction from his manager, | find that NREL was judtified in terminating
White.

(2) Evidence That NREL Followed 1ts Normal Termination Procedures

In order to ascertain whether NREL has presented clear and convincng evidence that White was
terminated despite his protected disclosure, | have examined whether there is evidence that
NREL followed its cusomary termination procedures. | find substantial evidence in the record
to support NREL’s argument that it followed standard procedure in terminating White.

White's termination was preceded by many discussons that included the director of the
laboratory, human resources personnel, and legad personnd. Tr. a 984. NREL's termination
procedure, which was extensvely described in the ROI, is as follows. the employee is placed on
an informd CAP, followed by a forma CAP, cuminating in a termination if the conditions of
the forma CAP are not met. Ex. NNN (ROI) at 10. The contractor submitted for the record 13
forma CAPs issued between 1997 and 2002, and | reviewed each document.® Nine are 60-day
plans, two are 90-day plans and two are less than 45 days. Ex. 143. In each example the
employee’'s manager, the employee, a human resources (HR) representative, and team leader
sgned the forma CAPs. Five dedt with the issue of timeliness and four dedt with interactions
with co-workers. Each formal CAP required regular meetings and a review at the end of a
specified time period with HR, the employee and his or her manager.®

White' s termination followed the steps set forth above. He was given 60 days to improve, and
nine of the 13 CAPs dso had 60-day terms. In addition, based on my review, NREL regularly

¢ NREL’s Director of Human Resources (HR) testified that each year three to five employees are
onforma CAPs. Tr. a 975.
* The terms of White'sformal CAP appeared to be reasonable. Ex. AAA.
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dedt with problems of employee timdiness by placing those employees on a CAP. Five of the
13 CAPs dedt with the issue of timeliness, thus supporting NREL’s contention that placing
White on a CAP was a norma personnel procedure when faced with a performance problem. |
do, however, find an anormdity in Whit€'s case as regards the informd CAP. Both White and
Taylor tedified that they were not aware that White's performance was an issue when Westby
sarted the regular medtings in April 1999. Although this does not taint the entire termination
process, it is not an effective way to manage an employee with a performance problem. Westby
should have been forthright and informed White from the start that his performance was not up
to par. Notwithganding this omisson, the terms of the informa CAP were cdear and White
knew that his performance was an issue months prior to the implementation of the formal CAP.

NREL dso presented evidence on the terminations of other employees™ The Director of HR
tedtified that there was at least one termination per year at NREL. Tr. a 983. Three termination
notices, with forma 60-day CAPs attached, are in evidence. Ex. 142. Each of these notices is
gmilar to the termination notice, with attachments, that White received. However, two aspects
of White's terminaion are troubling: (1) the refusal of the contractor's personne managers to
meet with White regarding his alegation of retdiaion, and (2) NREL's initid denid of White's
request for mediation.

Judy Mardhdl, the new HR Director in June 2000, refused to meet with White regarding his
CAP because she fdt that her role was merdly to monitor the discipline and termination process,
not to question the decision to place White on a CAP. Tr. at 1110. ** Marshall and other HR
offidds tedtified that they had no knowledge of Whit€'s retdiation dam until the summer of
2000. Tr. a 1116. At that time, the Human Resources Department did not investigate the
dlegation of retdiation, or examine how Westby disciplined other employees in his group. Tr.
a 996. The HR officids dtated that because they considered White's performance problems to
be substantiated, they did not investigate the retaiation claim further. Tr. a 1038-1040.

White requested mediation in his dispute with Westby in March 2000. Westby's manager
denied the request in May 2000. ** White then made a complaint of retdiation to DOE's Golden
Fedd Office under the DOE Employee Concerns Program (ECP) on June 1, 2000. Ex. 109. The
Golden FHdd Office referred the concern to NREL to ensure that NREL utilized informa dispute
resolution prior to engaging in the ECP process. |d. DOE was aware of NREL'’s refusd to
mediate, and reminded NREL that DOE favors informad means of resolving workplace disputes.
Id. In July 2000, NREL replied that there was an ongoing investigation into White's concern at

1 According to the tesimony of Chris Leavitt, Director of HR, terminations were rare because
most employees on a formad CAP dther improved their performance or resigned from NREL.
Tr. at 1039.

1 Marshdl joined NREL in June 2000, and was only employed there for ten weeks. Tr. a 1107-
1108.

2 NREL declined to mediae for two reasons. (1) company policy that mediation is not
appropriate for performance problems, and (2) an intermdl decison that NREL had expended
sufficient resources on the White case. Deposition of Jon Pietruszkiewicz at 23, Ex. OOO.
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the time of his complaint and that the invedtigation was dill active. Ex. 116. NREL further
stated that its management determined the need for mediation on a case-by-case basis, and asked
for ime to pursue its interna process. Ex. 116. Nonetheless, NREL did make a last minute
attempt at pursuing mediation. On August 4, 2000 (four days prior to White's termination), the
contractor initiated a teleconference between NREL legd, NREL human resources, a
representative from the DOE Golden Fed Office, and the DOE Headquarters Office of Dispute
Resolution in order to determine whether any aspects of Whit€'s termination could be reviewed
by an outsde mediator. Ex. JJJ a 2. The participants ended the conversation “with a genera
recognition that Mr. White's termination would be performance based and tha there were no
aspects of the termination appropriate for intervention by an externd mediator.” 1d.

| find that NREL followed its standard procedures regarding White's termination. The record
contains documentation on the contractor's disciplinary procedures and sample CAPs and
termination notices. After following the norma process and denying White's initid request for
mediation, NREL contacted DOE immediately prior to termination in order to determine
whether any part of the termination process could be mediated. DOE personnel appear to have
concurred with the decison that no aspects of the termination process were appropriate for
mediaion. Ex. J1J. This information, coupled with testimony at the hearing and other evidence
dready in the record, supports the contractor’s action in terminating White.

(3) NREL’s Treatment of Similarly Situated Employees

In addition to proving that NREL followed its standard procedures in terminating White, the
contractor must aso show that it did not discriminate against White for making a protected
disclosure to the I1G in January 1999. After reviewing the record, | find that NREL has presented
credible evidence that White was not singled out for discipline and termination due to his
whidleblowing. White, on the other hand, did not offer any substantiated evidence that NREL
treated him differently than amilaly Stuated employees. The definition of a “smilarly Stuated
employee’ iskey to my finding in this case.

It is clear from the record that many of White's colleagues submitted at least one, and often more
than one, late ddiverable. Ex. MM, QQ. However, only White was disciplined, only White was
terminated, and mogt important, only White was a whigleblower. In fact, White is the only
employee that Westby has every put on a peformance plan or terminated while he was a
manager at NREL. Tr. at.568-569. These facts require me to closely scrutinize the contractor’s
higoric trestment of amilaly Stuated employees who were not whigtleblowers. See Robert
Burd, 28 DOE 1 87,017 (2001).

NREL argues that it would have terminated White in spite of his protected disclosures. White,
however, contends that other employees dso submitted thar deliverables late and that those
employees were not disciplined or terminated. He has presented evidence that other PREP staff
members (namely Peter Lilienthd, Roger Taylor, Laura Vimmerstedt, Ralph Overend, Paul
Denne and Gary Nakarado) submitted late ddiverables and were not disciplined, let done
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terminated.® Ex. 73. Moreover, there is evidence in the record that management had recognized
that employees other than White had a problem with timdiness. For instance, Westby and his
manager complained that Nakarado was not responsive or timely while on a specid assgnment.
The notes of the 1999 manager's medting stated that Devon Heckman, Blar Sweezy and Gary
Nakarado dso had problems with timeliness. Ex. 35, Tr. a 632. Taylor testified that he often
did not submit his reports on time, and that his work would not hold up to the scrutiny Westby
gpplied to White.  White argues that he was treated differently and placed on the informa CAP
as retdiation for making a protective disclosure.

There are, however, marked differences in the overdl performance of these employees when
compared with White. Sweezy and Lilienthal, for instance, were ranked as top performers who
were aso identified at the managers meding as ready for promotion.  Taylor was a team |eader.
Sweezy submitted some reports late, but he was the leading developer of products (andyses) and
completed a ggnificant number of quality documents that have been placed on NREL’s website.
Tr. a 1172. White, on the other hand, did not produce any mgor reports in his first seven years
a NREL, and completed few, if any, during his find three years there. The other PREP
employees were not singled out at the managers meeting as performance problems.

To be considered dmilaly Stuated, it mus be shown that the conduct and circumstances
surrounding the conduct of the comparison employees are gmilar to those of the disciplined
individud. See Carr, 185 F.3d at 1324. See also Robert Burd, 28 DOE Para. 87,017 (2001).

In the indant case, | find that White's conduct is dissmilar to the conduct of the comparison
employees. There is no evidence in the record that other employees had such pronounced
problems with timeliness  See Yunus v. Department of Veterans Affairs, 242 F.2d 1367, 1372
(Fed. Cir. 2001) (holding that employees are not smilaly Stuated if there is not evidence of a
gmila levd of culpability on the pat of both indviduals); Padron v. BelSouth
Communications, 196 F.Supp.2d 1250 (S.D. H. 2002) (holding that under Forida Whistlebl ower
Act the quantity and qudity of the comparator's misconduct must be nearly identicd to prevent
courts from second-guessing employers reasonable decisons). The record shows that White
repeatedly missed deedlines even after being formaly notified that management was monitoring
his performance. See Section 111.C.1.a, supra. This indicates to me a lack of professonadism on
White's part that is reckless and verges on insubordination. White€'s problems with timeiness
were firg identified in 1993, and are wdl documented over the next seven years. The record
contains numerous examples of his flagrant disregard for reasonable requests.  White's
tedtimony a the hearing regarding his peformance visavis that of his colleagues is

enlightening:

Q. Sir, as you gt here today, do you bdieve that any deficiencies in your own

12 The opinion in the Carr case dtates that employees with different supervisors or in a different
chan of command are not dmilarly situated. See Carr, 185 F.3d at 1326. However, even
though Westby tegtified that he was not responsible for the evauations of al members of PREP,
| have included them dl in this andyss because Westby was responsible for the project. Tr. at
501-502.
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performance played any role whatsoever in the decision to terminate you?

A. In the sense that they provided a pretext for this, yes, they did. In the sense that
the things that they found as deficdent in my performance could have been found in the
performance of everybody ese in the building — you see my point.

Q. So it's your point that each of the items that we've talked about, about deficient
performance, were pretext to cover up the true scheme to retdiate against you.

A. Yes. In generd, | think that's true. I'm not trying to say tha there were no
problems with me not megting deliverables or something like that. What I'm saying is that if
you look at the performance of my peers, you would find amilar — had they been placed under
this sort of an ever-tightening noose around my neck, that their performance frankly would have
been alot like ming, if they lagted that long.

Tr. a 360-361. | do not agree with White. As set forth above, | have examined the performance
of his peers, and there are obvious differences. Nowhere in the record did | observe any other
employee who exhibited a gmilar level of tardiness, nonchalance in the face of progressve
discipling, or outright refusd to take direction from a manager. One of the key factors that
influenced my decison that White was not gmilaly Stuated to any of his colleagues was the
minutes of the January 13, 1999 performance review meding. Ex. 35. Out of over 100
employees under the supervison of Barbara Goodman, only two were identified at the meeting
as possibly needing a performance plan — and White was one of the two so identified. ** Tr. at
1211. This supports NREL's argument that White's termination was not related to his protected
disclosure. NREL managers had identified his performance problems and placed him in a
different category than his colleagues, based on tha performance, wel before NREL was
notified of the complaint in March 1999. Those problems had become so severe by August 2000
that his digmissd was inevitable. In concluson, | find that NREL has presented clear and
convincing evidence that it would have terminated White despite his protected disclosure.

V. Conclusion
After reviewing the record, | find that the respondent contractor has met its burden of proving by

clear and convinang evidence that it would have taken negative personnel actions against White,
cuminging in his termination, despite White's whigtleblowing activity. It is true that White was

 The other employee later resgned from NREL.
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a whigleblower, and to his credit was outspoken when he perceived an dleged unethical,
wadteful, or irregular activity being performed with the taxpayer’s money. It aso is clear that
Westby placed a high priority on receiving reports that White smply considered irrdevant to his
work. However, Westhy was not unreasonable in requesting these deliverables, and in many
documented indances White refused to take Westby's direction. Even though White made a
protected disclosure to DOE dfficids, his termination was a reasonable business decison based
on White's non-compliance with a formd corrective action plan. White did not prove that he
was treated differently because of his whistleblowing activity. Rather, White did not meet the
terms of the forma corrective action plan, and NREL'’s decison to terminate him after notice
and an opportunity to improve his performance was in my view clearly warranted. Accordingly,
| will deny White' s request for rdlief under 10 C.F.R. Part 708.

It Is Therefore Ordered That:
(1) The Request for Rdlief filed by Ronad D. White under 10 C.F.R. Part 708 is hereby denied.

(2) This is an Initid Agency Decison, which shdl become the Find Decision of the Department
of Energy denying the complaint unless, within 15 days of its receipt, a Notice of Apped is filed
requesting review of the Initid Agency Decison by the Director of the Office of Hearings and
Appeds with the Office of Hearings and Appeas, 1000 Independence Avenue, SW.,
Washington, D.C. 20585-0107, telephone number (202) 287-1566, fax number (202) 287-1415.

Vderie Vance Adeyeye
Hearing Officer
Office of Hearings and Appeds

Date: duly 15, 2002



